Equality and Human Rights Commission Research report

Pilot evaluation

of Kumon Y'all

befriending

project

Andy Hirst and Sinni Rinne Cambridge Policy Consultants



Contents

Acknowledgements	2
Executive summary	3
1 Introduction	5
1.1 Background	5
2 The intervention and planned outcomes	7
2.1 The intervention	7
2.2 Planned outcomes	8
3 Evaluation methodology	9
3.1 Methodology	9
4 Evaluation results	10
4.1 Evaluation outcomes	10
4.2 Evidence on 'what works'	14
4.3 Limitations and directions for future research	15
5 Scalability of the outcomes	17
5.1 Scalability and transferability	17
6 Conclusions and recommendations	19
6.1 Conclusion	19
Bibliography	21

Acknowledgements

We are indebted to the many people who gave their time, insights and expertise to support this evaluation. Particular thanks go to the Equality and Human Rights Commission, which agreed to fund this work and provided valuable advice, guidance and input throughout our research. A very special thank you goes to Farook Yunus of Kumon Y'all for facilitating and sharing his invaluable experience. We would also like to thank the manager of Charlestown Court and representatives from Thornhill United, Thornhill Community Academy, Kirklees Council, local tenants and residents associations, and Neighbourhood Watch for their contributions to this evaluation. Finally our heartfelt thanks to all young people and older residents who took part in this research for sharing their experiences; without them this report and insights gained from the evaluation would not have been possible.

Executive summary

This qualitative evaluation is part of an Equality and Human Rights Commission project that aims to 'lift the floor' on what works in tackling prejudice, discrimination, and identity-based violence and harassment in Britain by robustly evaluating promising interventions and improving the evidence base.

The evaluation tests the effectiveness of Kumon Y'all's befriending project, where a group of young Muslims have engaged with older non-Muslim residents in a community with which they would otherwise have very limited interaction. These include older people living in a residential complex and those involved in local clubs and associations in Thornhill, an area of Dewsbury with a predominantly White British population.

This small-scale evaluation has found evidence that community-based actions that bring together people from different faith and race groups can address misconceptions and begin to challenge prejudice. The Kumon Y'all befriending project directly addresses the social isolation many older people experience, and the active support from young Muslims living locally to the project in Savile Town, an area of Dewsbury, suggests that this model could easily be replicated in other locations. Even so, engaging and building trust with older people can take some time and durable outcomes may require extended support.

The 'low and slow' approach, which operates at grass-roots level and brings people together across different ages, faiths and cultures, was identified as effective among both groups in increasing understanding and knowledge of other cultures and beliefs and greater awareness of prejudices and misconceptions. These changes were more strongly felt among young people. While older residents were very positive about the young people themselves, some remained concerned about engagement with people from ethnic minorities in the wider community. Some saw limited opportunities to interact, constrained by language and some cultural practices.

The intervention provided a platform for participants to explore common interests and similarities in their beliefs and religion. Increasing prominence of positive intergroup contact (that is, contact between different groups) is crucial, and all

stakeholders involved in this evaluation maintained that the intervention should continue.

The findings of this evaluation are indicative, given the project's small scale, and further evaluation work and testing will be needed to understand the sustained impact of such interventions. Further research is also required to consider what the effects are in the longer term, and whether participants' changing attitudes make a difference to their interaction with family and wider social networks.

1 | Introduction

1.1 Background

Existing evidence (Scottish Government, 2015) suggests that despite good intentions, direct attempts at persuading people to recognise and change their prejudices and discriminatory behaviour have been largely ineffective and can often have unintentional negative effects. In contrast, interventions that facilitate positive intergroup contact (between different groups), or are based on principles of 'perspective-taking' or 'empathy-induction', are considered to be more effective (EHRC, 2016; Graf *et al.*, 2014; Dovidio *et al.*, 2011). There is also evidence to suggest that better results come from sustained activities over a period of time (Lemos and Crane, 2005).

A recent review of community cohesion in Britain for the UK Government (Casey, 2016) found that while segregation has reduced over the population as a whole, ethnic or migrant groups have become increasingly divided in a number of areas. This is particularly the case for people of Pakistani and Bangladeshi ethnicity, most of whom are Muslim.

In this context, 'what works' to tackle prejudice, discrimination and identity-based violence and harassment remains an open question. Identifying what works is the overall aim of our project. This evaluation looks at the innovative befriending approach adopted by a small local community organisation, Kumon Y'all. Kumon Y'all is a local community organisation based in Dewsbury, West Yorkshire, and was set up in 2008 with the goal to break down the racial and cultural divide between Muslims and non-Muslims. It aims to address racial hate and social injustice, and reduce the potential for radicalisation, through sustained positive intergroup contact in a community setting using the 'perspective-taking' principle¹.

In the mid-20th century, Dewsbury was a thriving market town with a predominantly White community. In less than 40 years, the town has become 44% Muslim (2011 Census) and, combined with a sustained decline in the local economy, this has

.

Viewing a situation or understanding a concept from an alternate point of view

brought significant challenges. Dewsbury has achieved notoriety – the leader of the 7/7 bombers lived in Dewsbury (BBC News, 2005), as did the youngest convicted terrorist (Percival, 2008), and the youngest alleged suicide bomber (BBC News, 2015). There are now reports of a low level of social mixing between the Muslim and non-Muslim groups living in this area. Kumon Y'all is based in Savile Town, an area of Dewsbury with a predominantly (93%) Asian Muslim population (2011 Census).

Kumon Y'all has engaged with young people through word of mouth to encourage them to take part in community volunteering projects and actions in neighbourhoods with a predominantly White British population. The befriending project is only part of Kumon Y'all's activity, but one that lends itself to the timescale and resources for this research.

Although previous work has generated a 'theory of change' for Kumon Y'all², its impact on the initiative's aims has not yet been formally evaluated. This evaluation aimed to use this logical framework to provide clear evidence of the effect on both young and older people who have taken part in Kumon Y'all's befriending project and to identify what works at a local level.

Equality and Human Rights Commission · www.equalityhumanrights.com
Published: October 2017

6

² A comprehensive description of how and why change is expected to happen within the context of the initiative, developed as part of the West Yorkshire Racial Justice programme for Joseph Rowntree Charitable Trust

2 | The intervention and planned outcomes

2.1 The intervention

This qualitative evaluation tests the effectiveness of Kumon Y'all's befriending project, where a group of young Muslims have engaged with older non-Muslim residents in a community with which they would otherwise have very limited interaction. These include older people living in a residential complex and those involved in local clubs and associations in Thornhill, an area of Dewsbury with a predominantly White British population.

Kumon Y'all believes that to break down prejudice it is necessary to work with young people, who have the energy and passion to make the world a better place. It engages with local young people through creative local volunteering projects and empowers them to identify and tackle problems and issues faced by the community. The Kumon Y'all befriending project started in 2013 and is ongoing. This evaluation focuses on the activity that took place over a three-year period up to autumn 2016.

During those three years the project involved a total of 200 young people in visits to two residential complexes for older people in Thornhill through a range of interventions – 20 in total. A core group of approximately 50 young people took part regularly (more than once), organising and participating in a number of activities over the three-year period. Young people met weekly in a community centre in Savile Town. They planned activities that were delivered in the Thornhill residential complexes and aimed at promoting social cohesion and tackling prejudice. There were approximately 50 residents living in the two complexes during this period.

At any one time a group of 10-15 young people at any one time delivered would be giving presentations on living peacefully and understanding each other, helping with gardening, and organising a Christmas party, games, and pampering and cake decorating sessions. The project also arranged a mosque visit and two sports events (boccia and curling tournaments) at the local high school, in which the older people from the residential complexes took part.

Kumon Y'all has provided other forms of support and activity in which the young people and older residents involved in this evaluation may also have taken part:

- presentations delivered by a small group of young people at local tenants and residents association and Neighbourhood Watch meetings
- young people offering help with everyday chores (such as gardening, cleaning up litter and providing transport to events) to different groups in the local community
- organising opportunities to play sport and games, including an annual football and cricket tournament and other activities to bring people together
- 'Love thy neighbour' pop-up events in public spaces to encourage open interaction and dialogue and also to help those in need (e.g. flood victims in Cumbria).

An important element of the befriending project and other Kumon Y'all activities is making home-cooked Asian food to share with non-Muslim residents. What Kumon Y'all has been doing has featured in the local and national media, increasing the visibility of its work.

2.2 Planned outcomes

The existing logical framework for Kumon Y'all (developed as part of previous work) set out the following measures for the evaluation:

- project inputs: a full-time project manager and two part-time staff to coordinate work
- activities/outputs: engaging young people to plan and deliver community action aimed at promoting social cohesion and tackling prejudice
- impacts: changes in religious and ethnic boundaries between communities; greater learning from each other; changes in participants' quality of life
- outcomes: reduced racism and prejudice.

For the specific purposes of the befriending project, the outcomes were interpreted as:

- engagement of young people in community actions with two residential complexes for predominantly White older people
- 2. reduced isolation and misconceptions between different faith and race groups, highlighting shared values across groups
- 3. reduced isolation and misconceptions between older and young people
- 4. improved leadership, communication and organisational skills of participants.

3 | Evaluation methodology

3.1 Methodology

The evaluation was undertaken between mid-December 2016 and the end of February 2017. Building on the existing evaluation framework and tools developed by Kumon Y'all as part of the West Yorkshire Racial Justice programme, the evaluation used mixed research methodology and included:

- a literature review of research on community-based action to address prejudice
- a desk review of project and local data
- an online survey of participating young people that tested the extent to which
 project outcomes were achieved. It asked why young people got engaged;
 whether there had been any change in their feelings towards people of different
 ages, faiths and races, and what had contributed to this change; and whether the
 project had affected participants' leadership, communication and organisational
 skills (24 responses out of a core group of 50 young people)
- two focus groups with participating young people (11 participants)
- three focus groups with older residents (13 participants out of approximately 50 people who benefited from activities) and two focus groups with local sport club and resident association members (six participants)
- interviews with key community stakeholders (three participants).

The evaluation followed an ethical research protocol. To ensure informed consent, participants signed a consent form and were given a brief account of the evaluation to ensure they had a good understanding of their participation in the research.

All the older people living in the two residential complexes were invited to participate in the focus groups, although not all residents who had been involved in the project were still living there. All young people from Kumon Y'all with experience of the project were invited to participate in the online survey and focus groups. Community stakeholders were identified by Kumon Y'all and included representatives from the local secondary school, local authority and Muslims living in Dewsbury.

4 | Evaluation results

4.1 Evaluation outcomes

Young people planned and organised 20 befriending actions for residents in two complexes for older people during the three-year period being evaluated. The befriending project started in 2013 when Kumon Y'all initially approached the complex managers to offer help in the garden. Relationships with the residents were then developed gradually over time as the young people organised a range of activities in the complexes.

'It was quite nerve-wracking when we first went [to the complex], but once we saw how much [the residents] appreciated us talking to them, it was nice to spend time there. Every event we do takes a lot of work and time, but when [the residents] thank you and you know you have helped them to become more knowledgeable. The whole thing, helping people to come together is very inspiring." [Young person, 16]

The project managed to engage 200 young people in community actions overall, with a core group of 50 engaging more consistently. Young people got involved in the project through word of mouth. The focus groups suggested that young people were often encouraged to participate by their parents, who wanted their children to engage in a positive local activity. The main reasons given by young people for participating in the project were to make a positive difference and to develop their own skills and capacities.

The core objective of the Kumon Y'all befriending project is to reduce racism and prejudice. The survey indicated a substantial and positive change in young people's feelings towards people of a different faith and race, including older people. It also indicated that they felt more comfortable about visiting neighbourhoods of Dewsbury that are considered as predominantly White British as a direct result of the project.

The survey indicated a very slight negative change in young people's feelings towards their home town (Dewsbury) and their Muslim peers and neighbourhood

(Savile Town). The focus groups suggested that the project had made them more aware of prejudices that exist in their community and peer group. Due to the small sample size, the survey results need to be treated with caution. However, the results from the survey and focus groups both indicate an overall increase in awareness of the prejudices and misconceptions and the need to tackle them in both communities.

'Maybe it is a lot to do with us. We come across with the wrong attitude. We make them feel like we don't want them. And that's why they won't mix with us.' [Older resident, 92]

'Likewise for people from Thornhill, Savile Town was the same as well. [White] people were afraid to come to Savile Town [because of the threat of racial abuse and violence].' [Young person, 23]

The project aimed to reduce isolation and misconceptions by highlighting and sharing values across groups. The befriending project allowed people to explore common interests (for example, in cricket or football) and similarities in their faith and beliefs (in particular that both Christianity and Islam promote peace and harmony).

There is evidence of improved understanding and knowledge of other cultures and beliefs – half the young people stated that their understanding of people of a different faith or race had improved due to the project. The focus groups indicated that some misconceptions still exist among older people and some of them remained concerned about engagement with the wider minority ethnic community. Some saw limited opportunities to interact, constrained by living in separate neighbourhoods but also by language and some cultural practices³. Both the older residents and young people felt that the intervention had reduced prejudices, although the older people raised some doubts about whether these changes would be sustained in the longer term.

³ Focus groups suggested that elderly participants were particularly concerned about: burkas being worn by Muslim women living in Dewsbury (comments included: 'I like to see faces, you don't know otherwise if they are smiling at you or not' [older resident, 76]; 'Something that I disagree with completely, when the women are driving and they can just about to see [burkas]. How is that possible? And that is why you cannot be friendly with them, because you can't see them. When you walk about, you just cannot get to them because they've got a barrier. It's like a barrier between them and us. I don't know whether they have to wear them?' [older resident, 88]); the separation by gender (comments included: 'They didn't mix. Well our school up here, when they come to sing [carols] they are usually mixed, boys and girls. That's what I don't understand' [older resident, 87]); and how women are treated (comments included: 'But the way the Asian men treat women disrespectfully, even their own and their own daughters. Which, as a mum, does not sound right. They basically, [think] they [women] are lower class. They are not treated very nicely. I've seen it myself personally.' [older resident, 67]).

'People are now more aware of Muslims, the barrier between local areas has been broken and people are now more engaging with us. It's made a change in local community but it's just the beginning.' [Young person, 17]

'I think after the visit [the elderly in the complex] tolerated the Asian young people a bit better, but there were still doubts in the back of their minds. How much good will linger on [after the intervention] I don't know.' [Older resident, 78]

One of the key project aims was to reduce isolation and misconceptions between older and young people. Evaluation findings indicate that the project led to people feeling more confident when interacting with other communities and groups. Overall, young people's feelings were already relatively favourable towards older people, perhaps because of the self-selected nature of participants. Even with this relatively positive starting point⁴, the survey found the most consistent positive change in young people's feelings was towards older people of different races and faiths.

'There was this one White lady who asked why are not more Asian people thinking like me and I explained to her that we are not all the same, that some Muslim people do bad things but that our religion does not teach us to do bad things but to live in peace in whatever country you are. And she had more questions to me about all the things what the media says, and I think I was able to change that perception of what people think.' [Young person, 17]

Existing evidence (for example, Dovidio *et al.*, 2011) has suggested that indirect contact can have broad effects, such as reducing intergroup threat, increasing intergroup understanding and trust, and reducing the experience of stereotype threat. Within this relatively small group we have not been able to explore whether the interaction has affected the attitudes of participants' wider social networks.

Kumon Y'all aims to improve the skills and competence of young people in challenging prejudice and racial hate by facilitating weekly sessions where young people take the lead in developing community actions, one of which was the befriending project. The focus groups and survey both indicated improvements in young people's confidence in tackling misconceptions and misunderstandings, generated through their involvement in the project. The survey results suggested that

-

⁴ The survey suggested that before participating in the project, only 10% (two out of 24) of young people did not feel favourable and warm towards older people of different faith and race and over 60% felt favourable towards older people of different race and faith. After the intervention, just 5% (or one young person) continued to have negative feelings towards older people of different faith and race.

the project had made most impact in developing participants' leadership skills, providing young people with possible solutions to local problems and making them more comfortable about meeting new people.

'We go out and talk about things with our friends. At the end of the day, it is just about misconceptions, but it just needs to be communicated more clearly. I make a more conscious effort now.' [Young person, 18]

There are a number of potential reasons for the more limited impact in reducing racism and prejudice in Dewsbury:

- Compared to most other parts of Britain, the scale of demographic change in Dewsbury is exceptional. In less than 40 years, the town has become 44% Muslim, with some neighbourhoods predominantly Asian Muslim, including 93% in Savile Town (2011 Census). This may make it more challenging to tackle prejudices between White British people who have lived in the area a long time and migrant groups. Overall, older residents in particular had had very limited direct contact with the Muslims living in Dewsbury prior to the intervention, and any ideas they had formed about Muslims living in Dewsbury were mostly based on indirect information.
- Older people were particularly concerned that English is not spoken in some communities. Recent research on national identity suggests that language matters more to national identity than other aspects (Stokes, 2017).

'In America they took people from all over the world, all different languages, and they made them all learn to speak English. Here, when they go to shops, their language is adequate. But among themselves, they don't [speak English]. If they could just get into the habit of speaking English everywhere, that would make a world of difference.' [Older resident, 87]

Underpinning many negative feelings was a sense of distress at the decline of
the local urban area and its amenities. Community stakeholders pointed to an
acute sense of 'unfairness' that fuelled resentment, arising from any perceived
differential treatment. For example, one local area has had upgraded football
pitches. Such changes are also perceived as being at the expense of other
groups and areas.

• The befriending intervention may not have been frequent and long term enough to make a difference. From the perspective of an older resident, three years is not considered a long period of time. Participating young people actively attended Kumon Y'all weekly sessions to tackle prejudice, and also mixed with people outside the project, but the older residents had much more limited interaction with the project and very little contact with people outside their complex.

'My only [other] contact with Asians is with taxi drivers.' [Older resident, 92]

Some older people felt the intervention should target other age groups to
effectively address prejudice in the local community. Previous research (Jang et
al., 2012) has suggested that prejudice increases with age.

'If you're asking [elderly] people to cooperate and mix, you are talking to the wrong age group.' [Older resident, 87]

4.2 Evidence on 'what works'

Interaction across religious and ethnic boundaries was singled out as the main contributing factor to positive changes in participants' level of prejudice. The key areas of good practice identified by the focus group participants and community representatives include:

- Accept that a long-term approach to community intervention is necessary to achieve sustained changes in prejudice or racism. The intervention needs to be 'low and slow' but durable, led by grass-roots community projects providing services across community boundaries, but also creating platforms for people to interact.
- Social and fun community events where everyone can get involved are effective in bringing people together across different ages and faiths/cultures.

'Fun events for all where you don't necessarily see the agenda until after the event' [Older resident, 76]

 Enabling participation is vital so that it is easy for partners and community to get involved; for example, providing transport and food and running the activity. 'Kumon Y'all gets activity up and running and then they invite you. It is a bit of a leap of faith as most people would like to establish buy-in first. It makes opting in easier as you know they will go ahead with or without you.' [Community stakeholder]

 Be sensitive to participants' cultures and norms when working with people. For example, it was recognised by several stakeholders that some Muslim parents would not allow their children to participate in mixed gender youth groups.

'There are differences within the Asian community. [Muslims in Dewsbury] do things separately, for example prayers are done separately, and the cultural familial system is set up to separate boys and girls ... So, that would be another barrier to break down. To get the right young people through the door, you need to stick with [separate groups] in the first instance.' [Community stakeholder]

Deliver activities that give young people a purpose. Some 56% of young people reported that developing their own skills was a key reason for taking part, so highlighting the personal development benefits may provide an effective engagement route. For example, participating in Kumon Y'all contributes towards the Duke of Edinburgh's Award.

Target those young people who have not necessarily got high aspirations, or do not yet know what they want to do or be, and those who do not have much else going on in their lives. It was suggested by community stakeholders that the Kumon Y'all approach would be less effective if it focused on 'high achievers' or 'troublemakers'.

4.3 Limitations and directions for future research

The qualitative nature of the research design suited the timeframe and research resources but required that the focus was on one aspect of Kumon Y'all's activity where participants could be easily identified and contacted. Such local community projects are typically small scale and cannot by their nature support large longitudinal quantitative analyses.

The evaluation findings are based on a survey (a small sample of 24) and focus groups of young people, and focus groups with older residents. The project actively engaged with a relatively small group of young people and older residents, and a fair

proportion of them were included in the evaluation. To validate the results, the evaluation triangulated findings with local stakeholders using a 'process tracing' approach⁵. The findings are valid for these two groups and do suggest both have realised outcomes in terms of reducing isolation and misconceptions between groups. These outcomes are stronger for the more intensive activity among young people and the research with older residents suggests that they will need more time to fully overcome any prejudicial views. Within this relatively small group we have not been able to explore whether the interaction has affected the attitudes of participants' wider social networks.

Local community stakeholders strongly supported the value of using social and fun events that engage with different communities.

'I think you get a few more people in these events that are there for the food and a good time, and don't really realise [the event] is there to close the differences [between communities]. You go to play bowls because you are invited and it sounds like a good night out. You don't realise you are coming to integrate.' [Community stakeholder]

The results suggest that this straightforward 'low key' approach should have wide applicability. That said, future research will need to build up more robust evidence and seek to explore the effects of such an approach over the longer term.

⁵ Process tracing is a qualitative research method used to assess causal change without having to rely on a control group. Process tracing can be used both to see if results are consistent with the project's theory of change (detailing how and why change is expected) and to see if alternative explanations can be ruled out.

5 | Scalability of the outcomes

5.1 Scalability and transferability

This small-scale evaluation has found evidence that community-based actions that bring together people from different faith and race groups can address misconceptions and begin to challenge prejudice. The Kumon Y'all befriending project directly addresses the social isolation many older people experience, and the active support from young Muslims living locally to the project, Savile Town, an area of Dewsbury, suggests that this model could easily be replicated in other locations. Even so, engaging and building trust with elderly people can take some time and durable outcomes may require extended support.

Scale of delivery is a factor here. Kumon Y'all has been able to build on its local community experience, and operating across a number of projects can offer young people a range of experiences and personal development opportunities that are clearly attractive to them. It is also important that the project respects the values of the wider community to ensure support for young people's participation. The project works with the community and has built respect among other community organisations. The evaluation has not found any evidence of large-scale interventions in building such networks at a local level. There are still some unknowns, including determining at what stage (if at all) young people and older residents will themselves challenge stereotypes and attitudes among their wider social networks. It is also not clear whether such an approach is equally suited to those who are highly prejudiced.

It is likely that outcomes generated by Kumon Y'all's befriending project will also apply in other settings and contexts. For example, recent Joseph Rowntree Foundation research (Sheehy-Skeffington and Rea, 2017) suggests that interaction at neighbourhood level between low, middle and high-income communities may help address social exclusion and class-based prejudice.

Cantle (2015) poses the question of what might be done to facilitate contact between communities so that they can recognise commonalities: 'Creating shared spaces, where people can encounter people who are different from themselves does change

attitudes: it can disconfirm stereotypes, undermine prejudice and actually ensure that people are much more comfortable with diversity' (Cantle, 2015, p. 8). The Kumon Y'all befriending project provides a straightforward context for contact between communities that can be replicated elsewhere.

6 | Conclusions and recommendations

6.1 Conclusion

This evaluation has gone some way towards testing the theory that inter-group contact is effective in changing perceptions and prejudicial attitudes towards other faith and ethnic groups. The results indicate that increasing positive intergroup contact has reduced the level of prejudice of participants, with an indication of changes also within the wider community. The evaluation indicates that the befriending project has made both young people and older residents more aware of the prejudices and misconceptions, and the need to tackle them, in both communities.

The reported effects seem to be stronger for young people, who were more open to learning and could also benefit from more intensive involvement in other Kumon Y'all activities. Older residents were not volunteers and so may represent a more challenging group with attitudes that have developed over a long period of time. Nonetheless, they appreciated the support provided by the young people. Whether this translated more widely into a different set of opinions of Muslims living in Dewsbury varied. This may simply take more time as there was no evidence that a more intensive process would have worked with older people.

The 'low and slow' approach, which operates at grass-roots level and brings people together across different ages, faiths and cultures, was identified as effective. The intervention has been designed to provide a platform for participants to explore common interests and similarities in their beliefs and religion. Increasing prominence of positive intergroup contact is crucial, and all stakeholders involved in this evaluation felt that the project should continue.

Notwithstanding the research limitations, the evaluation has built on the existing evidence base of effective approaches to tackle prejudice, with potential for further evaluation of longer-term sustained interventions delivered in different community settings. Further research is required to strengthen and test further the outcomes this evaluation has shown there has been some indicative impact on, and to consider what are impacts in the longer-term and whether the changing attitudes of

participants will have an effect on their interaction with family and wider social networks.

Bibliography

2011 Census. Office for National Statistics. [ONLINE]. Available at: https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census [accessed 29 June 2017].

Baker, C. (2010), 'Is there racial segregation in Britain's towns?' Available at: https://www.opendemocracy.net/ourkingdom/charlie-baker/is-there-racial-segregation-in-britains-towns [accessed: 2 July 2017].

BBC News (2005), 'Suicide bombers' "ordinary lives", 18 July. Available at: http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/4678837.stm [accessed 2 July 2017].

BBC News (2015), 'Dewsbury teenager is "UK's youngest ever suicide bomber", 14 June 2015. Available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-leeds-33126132 [accessed 30 June 2017].

Casey, L. (2016), The Casey Review: a review into opportunity and integration'. Department for Communities and Local Government. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-casey-review-a-review-into-opportunity-and-integration [accessed 2 July 2017].

Cantle, T. (2015), 'Interculturalism: Learning to live in diversity', in Antonsich, M., (2016), 'Interculturalism versus multiculturalism – the Cantle-Modood debate', *Ethnicities*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 470-93. Available at:

http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1468796815604558?journalCode=etna
[accessed 2 July 2017].

Dovidio, J. F., Eller, A. and Hewstone, M. (2011), 'Improving intergroup relations through direct, extended and other forms of indirect contact', *Group Processes & Intergroup Relations*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 147-60. Available at: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1368430210390555 [accessed 2 July 2017].

Equality and Human Rights Commission (2016), 'Research report 101: Prejudice and unlawful behaviour: exploring levers for change'. Available at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/research-report-101-prejudice-and-unlawful-behaviour-exploring-levers-change [accessed: 2 July 2017].

Graf, S., Paolini, S. and Rubin M. (2014), 'Negative intergroup contact is more influential, but positive intergroup contact is more common: Assessing contact prominence and contact prevalence in five Central European countries', *European Journal of Social Psychology*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 536-47. Available at: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/ejsp.2052/abstract [accessed: 2 July 2017].

Jang, H., Lim, J.T., Lee, S.Y., Kim, Y.I. and Lee, J.S. (2012), 'Factors affecting public prejudice and social distance on mental illness: analysis of contextual effect by multi-level analysis', *Journal of Preventative Medicine and Public Health*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 90-7. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3324720/ [accessed: 2 July 2017].

Lemos&Crane (2005), 'The search for tolerance – challenging and changing racist attitudes and behaviour among young people'. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/challenging-and-changing-racist-attitudes-and-behaviour-young-people [accessed: 2 July 2017].

Percival, J. (2008), 'Yorkshire teenager becomes Britain's youngest convicted terrorist', The Guardian, 18 August. Available at: https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2008/aug/18/uksecurity.alqaida [accessed 2 July 2017].

Sheehy-Skeffington, J. and Rea, S. (2017), 'How poverty affects people's decision-making processes'. Joseph Rowntree Foundation. Available at: https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/how-poverty-affects-peoples-decision-making-processes [accessed: 30 June 2017].

Stokes, B. (2017), 'What it takes to truly be 'one of us'. Pew Research Center. Available at: http://www.pewglobal.org/2017/02/01/what-it-takes-to-truly-be-one-of-us/ [accessed 2 July 2017].

The Scottish Government (2015), 'What works to reduce prejudice and discrimination? A review of the evidence'. Scottish Centre for Crime and Justice

Research. Available at: http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2015/10/2156 [accessed: 1 July 2017].

Contacts

This publication and related equality and human rights resources are available from the Commission's website: www.equalityhumanrights.com.

For advice, information or guidance on equality, discrimination or human rights issues, please contact the Equality Advisory and Support Service, a free and independent service.

Website <u>www.equalityadvisoryservice.com</u>

Telephone 0808 800 0082

Textphone 0808 800 0084

Hours 09:00 to 19:00 (Monday to Friday)

10:00 to 14:00 (Saturday)

Post FREEPOST EASS HELPLINE FPN6521

Questions and comments regarding this publication may be addressed to: correspondence@equalityhumanrights.com. The Commission welcomes your feedback.

Alternative formats

This publication is also available as a Microsoft Word file from www.equalityhumanrights.com. For information on accessing a Commission publication in an alternative format, please contact: correspondence@equalityhumanrights.com.

© 2017 Equality and Human Rights Commission

Published October 2017

You can download this publication from

www.equalityhumanrights.com

© 2017 Equality and Human Rights Commission Published: October 2017

